# **GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE**

# Minutes of the hybrid meeting held on 18 April 2024

PRESENT:	Mr Dilwyn Evans (Lay Member) (Chair) Councillor Euryn Morris (Deputy Chair)
	Councillors Geraint Bebb, Dyfed Wyn Jones, Keith Roberts, Margaret M. Roberts, Ieuan Williams
	Lay Members: Michael Wilson, William Parry, Mrs Sharon Warnes
IN ATTENDANCE:	Director of Function (Resources) and Section 151 Officer Head of Audit and Risk Head of Housing Services (for item 4) Head of Profession (HR) and Transformation (for item 8) Corporate Planning, Performance and Programme Manager (for item 8) IT Team Manager (MH) (for item 13) IT Infrastructure Manager (MD) (for item 13) Revenues and Benefits Service Manager (LIR) (for item 4) Principal Auditor (NW) Committee Officer (ATH) Webcasting Officer (FT)
APOLOGIES:	Councillors Trefor Lloyd Hughes MBE, Liz Wood.
ALSO PRESENT:	Councillor Robin Williams (Deputy Leader and Portfolio Member for Finance), Alan Hughes (Performance Audit Lead - Audit Wales), Bethan H. Owen (Accountancy Services Manager), Andrew Lewis (Senior Auditor).

# 1. DECLARATION OF INTEREST

No declaration of interest was received.

# 2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

The minutes of the previous meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee held on 8 February 2024 were presented and were confirmed as correct.

Arising thereon – The Head of Audit and Risk informed the Committee with reference to item 5 (Corporate Health and Safety Annual Report 2022/23) that having asked the Risk and Insurance Manager to undertake an analysis of insurance claims against the increase in slips and falls she could confirm that there was no correlation between the number of insurance claims and an increase in the number slips and falls.

# 3. REVIEW OF THE GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

The report of the Head of Audit and Risk incorporating CIPFA's review of the operation of the Governance and Audit Committee was presented for the Committee's consideration. The report set out the outcome of a piece of work which the Governance and Audit Committee of the Isle of Anglesey County Council commissioned CIPFA to undertake to fulfil the requirements of CIPFA's Position Statement: Audit Committees in Local Authorities and Police 2022 which recommends that audit committees evaluate their impact and identify areas for improvement.

The Head of Audit and Risk provided an overview of the report highlighting the conclusions of the review and the areas identified for improvement and she outlined the contents of the action plan formulated to address the recommendations made by the review.

Points of discussion by the Committee -

- The value of producing an action log in tabular form following each meeting utilising the 4action tracking system deployed by Internal Audit to enable the Committee to monitor the progress and completion of the actions/decisions it has agreed upon. The Head of Audit and Risk confirmed that she would be producing an action log for each meeting.
- Some disparity between the use of terminology in the English and Welsh versions of the review report were noted which could create confusion/misunderstanding especially where a Welsh term has dual meaning as in "cynghorwyr" meaning councillors and/or advisors. The Head of Audit and Risk confirmed that the Welsh translation had been arranged by CIPFA and undertaken externally to the Council's own translation service.
- That the review is predominantly focused on processes and practice and does not make substantive reference to the Committee's impact or effect. The Committee noted that it would have been helpful had the review included more in the way of feedback on the Committee's performance from management especially as the personnel interviewed had included senior and key officers.
- That it might also have been useful had CIPFA attended more meetings of the Governance and Audit Committee to gain a fuller appreciation of the Committee in operation as well as the CIPFA representative and report author being in attendance for the presentation of the review report.
- Whether areas within the Committee's terms of reference identified as implicit should be made explicit. It was noted that the review refers to six annual reports having been presented to the Committee that were not explicitly on the terms of reference and clarification of the reasoning for their having been brought to the Committee was sought.
- That when setting the agenda consideration be given to differentiating between items requiring a decision/resolution and those to be noted as information as well to the number of items for information only. Items should also be appropriate and within the Committee's remit.
- The ways in which the Committee can improve its effectiveness and output and become more proactive rather than reactive. Suggestions were made about reports needing to be clear regarding their purpose and the expectations of the Governance and Audit Committee in terms of the decisions/action required. It was suggested that briefings might be more productive and helpful to members were they held with the Committee in its entirety rather than pre-meeting with the Chair and Deputy Chair. It was further suggested that the Committee could be briefed in advance on an upcoming agenda item and members asked to explore/research the subject area themselves so that they can bring ideas to the meeting when the Committee formally considers the matter.
- That the Committee's approach should be more risk focused with greater attention and examination being given to those reports where the risks to the business and therefore the impact if not effectively mitigated, are higher.

The Committee was advised by the Head of Audit and Risk with regard to the alignment between matters brought to the Committee and its Terms of Reference that the six annual reports presented to the Committee highlighted by the review as not being explicitly on the Committee's Terms of Reference relate to the Committee's responsibilities in respect of the Council's assurance framework i.e., they are mainly assurance reports (with two pertaining to the Council's complaints handling which are statutory requirements), but are not explicitly listed in the Terms of Reference. CIPFA's view was that those reports should be explicit within the terms of reference if they need to be revisited by the Committee on an annual basis and not captured implicitly under a general governance and assurance heading. The Head of Audit and Risk said that with the Committee's agreement she would circulate to the Committee's members for comment the Terms of Reference with the annual reports explicitly set out therein before the Terms of Reference are then brought to the Committee for review at its June 2024 meeting.

### It was resolved -

- To note CIPFA's review of the Governance and Audit Committee and,
- To approve the actions proposed to address CIPFA's recommendations.

Additional actions agreed -

- Head of Audit and Risk to produce an action log to monitor progress against actions/decisions agreed at each meeting.
- Head of Audit and Risk to circulate to the Committee's members for comment the Committee's Terms of Reference with the changes recommended by CIPFA ahead of their formal review by Committee in June 2024.
- To enhance the Committee's proactiveness, that consideration be given to trialling an approach whereby the Committee is briefed in advance of an upcoming agenda item to enable members to research the subject area for ideas ahead of its being formally considered by the Committee.

# 4. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE

The report of the Head of Audit and Risk providing an update as at 31 March, 2024 on the audits completed since the previous update as at 31 January 2024 was presented for the Committee's consideration. The report also set out the current workload of Internal Audit and its priorities for the short to medium term going forward. Members of the Committee were provided under separate cover with copies of the four internal audit reports finalised since the last update in relation to Galw Gofal (Partnership Governance) (First Follow-Up) (Reasonable Assurance); IT Audit – Corporate Access Management (Reasonable Assurance); Recovery of Council Tax, Non-Domestic Rates and Sundry Debts (First Follow-Up) (Limited Assurance) and the Administration of Disabled Facilities Grants (Limited Assurance). The two Limited Assurance reports were accompanied by action plans to address the issues/risks raised by the internal audit review.

The report was presented by the Head of Audit and Risk who provided an overview of the contents.

The Director of Function (Resources)/Section 151 Officer provided the background to the Limited Assurance report in relation to the recovery of Council Tax, Non-Domestic Rates and Sundry Debts and outlined the factors which had impacted on the debt situation and explained the measures being taken to improve the position and the effectiveness of income collection and debt recovery. Further details were provided by the Revenue and Benefits Service Manager.

The Head of Housing Services provided contextual information with regard to the Limited Assurance report in relation to the Administration of Disabled Facilities Grants and he referred to increasing demand not being matched by additional resources as challenges with the administration and delivery of DFGs. The Service accepts the report and action plan and is committed to addressing the issues raised within the allotted timescale of 1 July 2024.

Points of discussion by the Committee -

- That it would have been helpful had the audit follow up report included contextual information in relation to Council Tax, Non-Domestic Rates and Sundry Debts to help members get to the nub of the matter in respect of outstanding debt and how to tackle it. It was noted that the report does not reference any of the challenges, mitigating factors and actions taken as described by the Section 151 Officer in his presentation of the background, to address issues and improve the situation. The Committee further noted that where assurance is limited, members need to be able to focus attention on areas where actions can have an effect rather than on areas where the prospect of improvement is limited as in the recovery of certain debts especially social care debts. Adopting a project management methodology was suggested.
- That it would also be helpful if the Committee was apprised of the total sum of nonrecoverable debt so that it could make recommendations for a way forward.
- Whether there is a formula for determining when the pursuit of debt becomes uneconomical.
- Whether the application process for business rates relief is too complicated and a disincentive to apply.
- The treatment of debt on the Council's balance sheet as part of the accounts.
- With regard to the administration of DFGs, specifically the non-alignment between DFG key performance indicators and Welsh Government's Housing Adaptations Standards expected timeframes, members sought clarification of the Housing Service view of this being an issue for the Council as a whole, not solely the Housing Service.
- Capacity within Internal Audit and whether having two vacant posts within the service is likely to affect the delivery of the audit plan.

The Committee was advised as follows -

- That the Resources Service is aiming to reach a position whereby it is able to identify those debts which are recoverable and focus resources in those areas to maximise the opportunities for recovery whilst accepting that there will be some debts that will not be collected despite best efforts.
- That that assessment cannot be made until such time as the existing debt backlog has been sifted and analysed with consideration being given by the Section 151 Officer and Revenue and Benefits Service Manager to applying an additional resource to that task, funds allowing. Arriving at a total non-recoverable debt figure is part of that process.
- The details regarding the work undertaken and work remaining to be undertaken to address the issues raised are all contained within the action plan agreed by management and internal audit. It is a matter for the Committee to determine whether it is able to take assurance from the information provided.
- That with regard to business rates relief the Service has been actively encouraging businesses to apply for relief and has engaged Menter Môn in that endeavour.
- That whilst the gross debt is shown in the Council's accounts a provision for bad debt is included which reduces the net carrying value of the debt. The calculation is made based on the age, amount, and type of the debt and where collection is deemed unlikely or the debt is aged, the provision is higher. The revenue account will have therefore absorbed

the loss each year meaning that writing off the debts would not incur a significant one-off revenue cost as it has been accounted for in the provision calculation each year.

- With regard to the DFG performance indicators being a matter for the Council, the issue relates to whether the timeframe applies from when the client initiates contact which would then also involve the Social Services or from when the Housing Service commences the adaptation.
- With regard to the capacity of the Internal Audit Service, the two current vacancies within the service have not affected the progress of work against the audit strategy as the budget savings from the vacancies are being utilised to commission external support particularly in specialist areas. Internal Audit teams across the board are currently experiencing recruitment challenges.
- In response to a suggestion about introducing a graduate trainee programme the Committee was advised that Internal Audit does not have the resources/capacity at present to support a graduate trainee and that the expectations on internal audit in terms of the skills necessary to keep up with the challenges of providing assurance and risk assessment as those areas become more complicated and specialised means that entry into the service in Anglesey is at qualified, senior level.

# It was resolved to note the outcome of Internal Audit's work, and to accept the assurance provided and priorities going forward.

## 5. OUTSTANDING ISSUES AND RISKS

The report of the Head of Audit and Risk setting out the outstanding actions across the Council as at 31 March 2024 was presented for the Committee's consideration. A detailed status update of the five outstanding "major" rated issues/risks was provided at Appendix 1 to the report.

The Principal Auditor updated the Committee on current performance and the status of the outstanding actions which Internal Audit has raised as illustrated by the graphs in the report and she confirmed that Internal Audit endeavours to pursue all outstanding actions to ensure their completion.

# It was resolved to accept the report and the Council's progress in addressing outstanding Internal Audit issues/risks as satisfactory.

### 6. INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY 2024/25

The report of the Head of Audit and Risk incorporating the Internal Audit Strategy for 2024/25 was presented for the Committee's consideration.

The Head of Audit and Risk presented the report and strategy as risk based with resources directed to the highest areas of risk in line with the strategic risk register (Details of proposed audits were set out in Appendix A to the strategy).Whilst the strategy has been set in consultation with the Director of Function (Resources)/Section 151 Officer and Heads of Service, Internal Audit will continue to engage with senior management over the course of the plan to ensure the service remains up to date and responsive to any emerging issues and concerns.

Points of discussion by the Committee -

• In light of the two vacancies within the Internal Audit service, whether there is appropriate reconciliation between the work planned and the resources available and whether the balance between in-house and third-party resources meets the requirements given that there is only one scheduled audit requiring external commissioned expertise in relation to cyber security.

- Recruitment arrangements and succession planning within the Internal Audit Service. Some concern was expressed regarding the implications for the future of the service and the development of the next generation of internal auditors if entry into the service at Anglesey is at senior level.
- Whether introducing a system of auditor- accountant rotation might be helpful in addressing internal audit recruitment challenges.
- Given that one of the stated objectives of the Internal Audit Service is to provide effective challenge and act as a catalyst for positive change and continual improvement, there is no reference in the planned work to how this objective will be delivered or the role Internal Audit might have in providing independent input into service transformation and change.
- The propriety of the Committee escalating recruitment and resource issues for management/Executive attention.

The Committee was advised as follows -

- That the Internal Audit Service does have recourse to an external auditor who undertakes some of the complex strategic risk register audits in addition to the inhouse Principal and Senior Auditors. The proposed internal audit coverage also includes non-strategic risk areas which are detailed under the category of other audit work.
- That regarding staffing and recruitment, the Internal Audit function has changed considerably in recent years and as resources have reduced the ways in which internal audit works have had to change to ensure the organisation obtains the best value from those limited resources which is a trend that is being replicated across services. Lower level/scale posts are therefore becoming obsolete because the work carried out at this level does not add value to the organisation.
- That there may be greater opportunities in larger internal audit teams for graduate trainees to gain shadowing experience but for Anglesey's Internal Audit Service it is more effective, efficient, and better value for money to commission skilled and experienced auditors from outside the organisation to supplement existing inhouse resources where required. Additionally, external audit provides an assessment of the adequacy of internal audit arrangements.
- That the main focus of Internal Audit is to provide assurance, and although it can also act as a critical friend and provide challenge (Internal Audit's contribution to the Housing Service's review of its approach to procurement was cited), change management is managed by the services and each service has its own Business Manager to scrutinise and improve business practices and processes. Larger corporate change projects are managed by the Corporate Transformation Service.
- That rotating auditor and accountants would be a challenge as each role has its own different skillset.
- That the Committee's role is to highlight areas of risk that have the potential to become issues for the Council and to bring those to the attention of the Executive or management.

The Head of Audit and Risk advised that internal audit capacity is not at a point requiring escalation, and she confirmed that internal audit has the necessary resources to deliver the strategy and to provide an assurance opinion.

The Committee further suggested that it might be helpful to ask the Head of Audit and Risk to raise the issue of capacity/recruitment at the Wales Chief Auditors Group. The Head of Audit and Risk advised that Denbighshire Council has established a working group to examine the feasibility of sharing audit resources between the six North Wales councils.

### It was resolved that the Governance and Audit Committee -

- Approves the risk-based Internal Audit Strategy 2024/25 as providing the Council with the assurance it needs.
- Confirms that it is content with internal audit's resource requirements and the use of other sources of assurance.
- Confirms that it is content that there are no inappropriate scope or resource limitations.

## 7. INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER

The report of the Head of Audit and Risk incorporating the Internal Audit Charter was presented for the Committee's consideration.

The Head of Audit and Risk presented the report and she highlighted amendments to the Charter since it was last reviewed and approved by the Committee in December 2022 and the basis for them.

# It was resolved to note the review and to approve the amendments to the Internal Audit Charter as detailed in the report.

## 8. NATIONAL REVIEWS AND THEIR RELATED RECOMMENDATIONS

The report of the Head of Profession (HR) and Transformation setting out the Council's response to recognised national reports and associated recommendations published by regulators was presented for the Committee's consideration. The report also updated the Committee on the work which the Council has undertaken over the past 15 months in addition to that presented to the Committee on 8 December 2022. The report sought to provide assurance that the national recommendations attached to national reports have been given due attention by the Council and that relevant recommendations are being implemented in a meaningful way.

Points of discussion by the Committee with regard to the form and content of the report -

- A reduction in the amount of narrative, context, and level of detail would make the report more accessible
- That the focus should be on actions/recommendations outstanding, any barriers to completion and the risk to the Council from non-implementation
- That the date of the national report/publication be included
- That the RAG status of actions be noted

The Head of Audit and Risk advised that she had been liaising with the Corporate Planning, Performance and Programme Manager with a view to incorporating the recommendations/ actions arising from national reports within the 4action tracking system, and she suggested that it might be helpful if a report on the lines of the Internal Audit Outstanding Risks/Issues report could be produced for the national reviews and their recommendations for the future.

#### It was resolved -

- To accept the report and updates as an accurate reflection of the County Council's annual update against the related recommendations
- To agree that the reports recommended for removal within the green table no longer need to be listed in future reports.

Additional action agreed – That the format and content of future reports regarding national reviews and their related recommendations be amended as suggested

## 9. EXTERNAL AUDIT: AUDIT WALES WORK PROGRAMME AND TIMETABLE

The report of Audit Wales which provided an update on progress against its financial and performance audit work programmes as at 31 December 2023 was presented for the Committee's information.

Mr Alan Hughes, Audit Wales Performance Audit Lead brought the Committee up to date on the latest status of Audit Wales's financial and performance audit work.

The Committee requested that for the future, reports by Audit Wales be accompanied by a covering report setting out the purpose of each report and the expectations on the Committee in considering it.

#### It was resolved to note the Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable update.

Additional action agreed – that report by Audit Wales be accompanied in future by a covering report setting out the purpose of each report and the expectations on the Committee in considering it.

### 10. EXTERNAL AUDIT: ANNUAL AUDIT SUMMARY 2023 – ISLE OF ANGLESEY COUNTY COUNCIL

The report of Audit Wales summarising the work completed in relation to the Isle of Anglesey County Council since the last Annual Audit Summary which was issued in March 2023 was presented for the Committee's information.

The report was presented by Mr Alan Hughes, Audit Wales's Performance Audit Lead who highlighted Anglesey's demographics particularly an ageing population as a significant consideration in future service planning and decision making.

### It was resolved to note the Annual Audit Summary 2023 for the Isle of Anglesey.

### Additional Action Agreed – as for item 9

### 11. REVIEW OF FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2023/24

The report of the Head of Audit and Risk incorporating the Committee's Forward Work Programme and Training Programme for 2023/24 was presented for the Committee's consideration. Changes to the scheduling of reports were highlighted by the Head of Audit and Risk and were noted by Members.

#### It was resolved -

- To accept the Forward Work Programme 2023/24 as meeting the Committee's responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference.
- To note the changes to the dates on which reports will be submitted.

### **12. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC**

It was considered and resolved Under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, to exclude the press and public from the meeting during the discussion on the following item on the grounds that it involved the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the said Act and in the Public Interest Test presented.

## 13. ANNUAL CYBER SECURITY REPORT 2023/24

The report of the Head of Profession (HR) and Transformation incorporating the Annual Cyber Security Report 2023/24 was presented for the Committee's consideration. The report outlined some of the challenges in cyber security experiences in 2023/24 and how those were overcome, the common cyber threats that face the Council and the mitigating and operational controls in place to detect and prevent malicious activity.

The report was presented by the IT Team Manager who provided an overview of the contents.

Points of discussion by the Committee -

- That it would be helpful for Members to be informed in future reports of any successful penetrations against the Council's IT/cyber security defences and how they were dealt with and the measures taken.
- The role of software owners in providing alert mechanisms
- The implications of the growth of Artificial Intelligence

The Committee was advised that a draft outline policy on the usage of Artificial Intelligence is in preparation and will address the approach to be taken, the risks involved and mitigation measures to be applied.

It was resolved to accept the Annual Cyber Security Report for 2023/24.

Additional action agreed – that the Annual Cyber Security Report in future include instances (if any) where the Council's IT/cyber security defences have been penetrated and the remedial actions taken.

Following the conclusion of the formal committee meeting, a private meeting between members of the Governance and Audit Committee, external audit and internal audit took place with no officers present.

> Mr Dilwyn Evans Chair